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RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

■ Lookout Corporate Center 
I 717 Dixie Highway, Suite 600 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky 41 0 I I 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

■ Tel. 859/331-5000 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Ft. 
Thomas, Kentucky, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re­
spects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, as of 
June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, 
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis on pages 5-10 and budgetary comparison 
information, schedule of City contributions, and schedule of proportionate share of net 
pension liability-hazardous and non hazardous on pages 45-54 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements 
that collectively comprise the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentuckys basic financial statements. 
The combining and individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
presented for purposed of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. 

The combining and individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combing and 
individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with• Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report 
dated January 29, 2020, on our consideration of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance. 

RANKIN, RANKIN, & COMPANY 

~~,!{~<{--c~ 
Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
January 29, 2020 
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



"Founded in 1867" 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 

As management of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, we offer readers of the City's financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Ft. Thomas, 
Kentucky for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Financial Highlights 

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities (net position) at the close of the most recent year by 
$8,338,048. 

As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported a combined ending 
fund balance of $17,965,156. This total represents an increase of $693,437 in comparison to the prior 
fiscal year. The increase was mostly attributable to actual revenues exceeding the budget 
projections. 

At the end of the current fiscal year, total fund balance for the general fund was $16,520,681, a 
$1,450,193 increase over the prior fiscal year. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial 
statements. The basic financial statements encompass three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report 
also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. 

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. 

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City's assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, the increases and decreases in net 
assets are one indicator of whether the City's financial position is improving or deteriorating. Other 
nonfinancial factors such as changes in the City's property tax base and the condition of the City's 
infrastructure will also assist in assessing the overall financial health of the City. 
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The statement of activities presents how the government's net assets changed during the most recent 
fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the 
change occurs, regardless of the timing of cash flows. As a result, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows for future fiscal periods 
(e.g. uncollected revenue and earned by unused vacation leave.) 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes, license fees and intergovernmental activities which are considered governmental 
activities from those functions that are intended to cover all or a significant portion of their costs 
through user fees and charges which are considered business-type activities. The governmental 
activities include most of the City's basic services. These include but are not limited to police, fire, 
street maintenance, parks and recreation, and general administration. 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities and objectives. Some funds are 
required to be established by State law. However, the City Council establishes many other funds to 
help it control and manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is meeting legal 
responsibilities for grant funds. 

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on how money 
flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. 
The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's general 
government operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps you 
determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to 
finance the City's programs. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower that that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for the governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term 
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City of Ft. Thomas maintains individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately 
in the governmental balance sheet and in the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in 
fund balances for the general fund, public works/KDOT, central business district and Tower Park 
funds, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City of Ft. Thomas' 
own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
also presents certain required supplementary information. 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position. In the case of the City of Ft. Thomas, assets exceeded liabilities by $8,338,048 at the close 
of the most recent year. 

The largest portion of the City's net assets reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, 
buildings, machinery and equipment), less any related debt to finance those assets that is still 
outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to its citizens; consequently, 
these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital assets 
is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resource needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, net assets changed as follows: 

Current and other assets $ 
Capital assets, net 

Total assets 
Deferred outflows of resources 
Other liabilities 
Long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Deferred inflow of resources 
Net assets: 

Invested in capital assets, net of debt 
Restricted 
Unrestricted (as restated for 2018) 
Total net assets (as restated for 2018) $ 

Governmental Activities 
2019 
18,676,531 $ 
16,786,673 
35,463,204 
8,464,764 

749,051 
31,967,242 
32,716,293 
2,873,927 

2018 
17,875,500 
16,818,921 
34,694,421 
10,295,769 

655,769 
31,521,111 
32,176,880 
2,439,814 

11,823,410 11,558,683 
1,059,905 1,593,802 

(4,545,267) {2,778,979) 
8,338,048 $ 10,373,506 ------

The City's net position decreased by $2,035,458 during the current fiscal year. This is primarily due to 
an increase in pension liabilities. 

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance­
related legal requirements. 

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near­
term inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing 
the City's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of a fiscal year. 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City's government funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $17,965,156, an increase of $693,439 in comparison with fiscal year FY 2018-19. 
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The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, the 
balance of the general fund was $16,520,681, which represents an increase of $1,450,193 over fiscal 
year 2017-2018. Key factors in this change are as follows: 

Significant activity in funds other than the City's General Fund includes Special Revenue (Public 
Works/KDOT Fund and Central Business District Fund), Capital Projects (Tower Park Fund) and 
Other Governmental Funds (Waste Fee and Debt Service). These funds account for the majority of 
non-operating activity including, but not limited to, capital infrastructure projects, special projects, debt 
repayment and activity that must be segregated from the General Fund. The Public Works/KDOT 
Special Revenue Fund included total expenditures of $1,198,007, which was made up of road repair 
and reconstruction, as well as sidewalk repair. The Capital Projects/Tower Park Fund represents 
activity from revenues restricted by City ordinance, which are earmarked specifically for approved 
recreation projects. In FY 2019, this fund incurred total expenditures of $448,073, which consists 
mainly of transfers from General Fund reserves. Activity under the Central Business District Fund is 
primarily debt service for bond issues associated with park improvements and business district 
revitalization projects, as well as city-sponsored events. The primary source of revenue in this fund is 
a portion of the city's occupational license fee (.25%), specifically earmarked for infrastructure 
improvements in the City's business districts. The amount of that transfer for FY 2019 totaled 
$575,000. 

Activity within the Debt Service Fund included total expenditures of $566,629 representing repayment 
of borrowed funds associated with the CBD revitalization, building improvements, general obligation 
bonds and park improvements. 

The following schedules present a summary of general, special revenue, debt service and capital 
projects revenues and expenditures for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and the amount and 
percentage of increases and decreases in relation to the prior year. 

Revenues 
Taxes 
Licenses and perm its 
Intergovernmental 
Charges for services 
Fines and forfeitures 
Interest 
Special assessments 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 

$ 

FYE 2019 
Amount 
6,242,388 
6,272,826 

575,196 
1,741,342 

67,097 
129,079 
29,734 

626,306 

15,683,968 

Percent 
of 

Total 
39.80% $ 
40.00% 

3.67% 
11.10% 

0.43% 
0.82% 
0.19% 
3.99% 

FYE 2018 
Amount 
6,033,021 
6,030,455 

570,358 
1,731,095 

89,899 
41,754 
92,231 

395,491 

1 00.00% $ 14,984,304 

Percent 
of 

Total 
40.26% 
40.25% 

3.81% 
11.55% 
0.60% 
0.28% 
0.61% 
2.64% 

100.00% 

As in years past, the increase in the Taxes line is mostly due to the increase in property taxes. 
Interest revenues increased again in FY 18-19, as the City continues to invest money in different 
bonds and securities. 

Licenses and permits increased slightly, as net profits, payroll tax, and insurance premium tax trend 
upward each year. This is especially true in times of economic stability, which we have enjoyed for 
several years. 
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Percent Percent 
FYE 2019 of FYE 2018 of 

Expenditures Amount Total Amount Total 
General government $ 1,347,910 8.99% $ 1,325,176 10.02% 
Police 3,710,394 24.75% 3,547,729 26.82% 
Fire 3,151,810 21 .03% 2,843,259 21.50% 
General services 4,321,591 28.83% 3,154,202 23.85% 
Recreation 712,017 4.75% 836,807 6.33% 
Capital outlay 1,179,755 7.87% 952,130 7.20% 
Debt service 567,052 3.78% 566,779 4.28% 

Total revenues $ 14,990,529 100.00% $ 13,226,082 100.00% 

The chart above shows that most departmental expenditures increased over the fiscal year 2017-
2018. Most of this can be attributed to increase in pension contributions, although cost-of-living 
increases did play a small part as well. Capital outlay increased by about $227,000, due to large 
street projects and several large, ongoing infrastructure projects. The marked increase in General 
Services stems from the same projects, as the City strives to improve its infrastructure. 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

Over the course of the year, the City Council amended the budget one time. This budget amendment 
adjusts revenues and expenditures to more closely reflect the anticipated actual revenues and 
expenditures for the year. 

The fiscal year 2018-2019 budget relied primarily on the anticipation of moderate increases in 
property and payroll taxes and licenses and fees. Actual revenue categories exceeded budgeted 
amounts by $1,047,291. In addition, actual expenditures finished $442,028 under budgeted 
appropriations. 

DEBT AND CAPITAL ASSET ADMINISTRATION 

Debt 

At year-end, the City had $4,963,263 in outstanding bonds and capital leases compared to 
$5,260,318 last year. 

General Obligation Bonds $ 
Ca pita I lease and 

genera I obliga lions 
( b a Ck e d b y C i ty ) 

Tota Is $ 

2 019 

Govern m en ta I 
Activities 

$ 

4 ,963,263 

4,963,263 $ 

2018 

5,260,318 

5,260,318 

In 2013-14, the City adopted Governmental Accountant Standards Board Statement No. 67 -
Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, which requires the recognition of Net Pension Liability. The 
Net Pension Liability at June 30, 2018 (based on the July 1, 2018 actuarial report) was $113,762. 

In 2014-2015, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68-
Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. 
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In 2017-2018, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75-
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The net 
pension liability at June 30, 2019 (based on the June 30, 2018 actuarial report) was $6,045,609. 

Capital Assets 

At the end of June 30, 2019, the City had $36,674,795 invested in capital assets including police and 
fire equipment, buildings, park facilities, roads and sidewalks. This represents a net increase of 
$1,051,762. The majority of this increase came from infrastructure improvements. Construction-in­
progress actually decreased this year, as some of the longer-term projects were completed. While 
there were some small increases in the equipment category from scheduled replacements, the vehicle 
category saw a rare decrease due to the auction and disposal of several surplus units. 

Land 
Construction Progress 
Buildings 
lmpro-..ementsflnfrastructure 
Equipment 
Vehicles 
TOTALS 

Governmental Activities 
2019 2018 

$ 1,035,535 $ 1,035,535 
399,965 452,287 

3,650,866 3,193,939 
25,403,473 24,782,433 

3,026,661 2,967,031 
3,158,295 3,191,808 

$ 36,674,795 $ 35,623,033 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET 

The budget for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 again continued the City's goal of providing high­
quality, cost-effective public services. This audit report highlights the City's continued growth during 
this fiscal year. This fiscal year's highlights include higher-than-expected growth in the City's primary 
revenue sources and effective control the daily operating expenditures. The fiscal year 2019-2020 
budget adheres to the City's conservative approach when it comes to revenue and expenditure 
estimates. This approach ensures that the City will maintain adequate reserves to deal with any crisis 
or unexpected large expenditure that may arise. As in the past, this conservative focus means that 
only limited discretionary funds are traditionally available to reflect policy initiatives, such as those 
outlined by the Board of Council. Funds have been earmarked in this fiscal year, and will be for the 
next few years, for the planning and implementation of projects stemming from the City's Visioning 
Process and accompanying Comprehensive Plan update. 

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it receives 
and spends. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, please 
contact the City Administrator's Office at 130 N. Ft. Thomas, Ft. Thomas, Kentucky. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2019 

Primary 
Government 

Governmental 
Activities 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,741,954 
Investments 2,243,664 
Receivables: 

Taxes 113,343 
Intergovernmental 35,998 
Assessments 28,270 
Accounts 1,436,975 
Accrued interest 14,677 

Prepaids 61,650 
Deferred expenses 
Capital assets not being depreciated 1,435,500 
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 15,351,173 

Total assets 35,463,204 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred charges on debt issuance 171,050 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,810,233 
Other deferred outflows 6,483,481 

Total deferred outflows of resources 8,464,764 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 310,204 
Accrued liabilities 333,474 
Accrued interest payable 105,373 
Unearned revenue 
Noncurrent liabilities: 

Net pension liability 26,691,947 
Compensated absences 312,032 
Due within one year 212,636 
Due in more than one year 4,750,627 

Total liabilities 32,716,293 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

Differences between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan and other deferred inflows 2,873,627 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 11,823,410 
Restricted for: 

Capital 1,059,905 
Unrestricted (4,545,267) 

Total net position $ 8,338,048 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Charges for 
Functions/Programs Expenses Services 
Primary government: 

Governmental activities: 
General government $ 1,428,948 $ 331,099 
Police 3,779,286 
Fire 3,243,455 295,999 
General services and property mgt. 5,245,161 1,284,838 
Recreation 749,938 95,499 
Interest and other debt costs 279,524 
Pension expense 2,993,104 

Total governmental activities 17,719,416 2,007,435 
Total primary government $ ______'IL! 19 ,416 $ 2,007,435 

General revenues: 
Taxes: 

Property taxes, levied for general purposes 
Taxes, levied for bank deposits 
Motor vehicle taxes 

Licenses and permits 
Interest 
Miscellaneous 

Total general revenues and special items 

Change in net position 

Net position-beginning, as restated 
Net position-ending 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Program Revenues 
Operating Capital 

Grants and Grants and 
Contributions Contributions 

$ 48,171 $ -
140,611 -
109,463 

83 275,291 
1,577 -

299,905 275,291 
$ 299,905 $ 275,291 

Net (Expense) Revenue 

$ 

$ 

and Changes in 
Net Position 

Governmental 
Activities 

(1 ,049,678) 
(3,638,675) 
(2,837,993) 
(3,684,949) 

(652,862) 
(279,524) 

(2,993,104) 
(15,136,785) 

(15,136,785} 

5,616,600 
79,415 

546,373 
6,272,826 

129,079 
457,044 

13,101,337 

(2,035,448) 

10,373,496 

$ 8,338,048 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
June 30, 2019 

Gapital 
Si;iecial Revenue Project 

Public Central Other Total 
Works/ Business Tower Governmental Governmental 

General KDOT District Park Funds Funds 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12.642,219 $ 1.008,251 $ 92,045 $ 317,706 $ 681,733 $ 14,741,954 
Investments 2,243,664 . . . . 2,243,664 
Receivables: 113,343 . . . . 113,343 

Taxes 35,998 . . . . 35,998 
Governmental units . 27,863 407 . . 28,270 
Assessments 1,413,121 16,344 . . 7,510 1,436,975 
Accounts 14,677 . . . . 14,677 
Accrued interest 60,541 . 1,109 . . 61,650 

Prepaids . . . . . . 
Deferred expenses . . . . . . 
Due from other funds 670,000 45,057 86,640 . . 801,697 

Total assets $ 17,193,563 $ 1,097,515 $ 180,201 $ 317,706 $ 689,243 $ 19,478,228 

LIABILITIES DEFERRED INFLOWS 
AND FUND BALANCES 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ 199,518 $ 13,.755 $ 2,097 $ 3,695 $ 91,139 $ 310,204 
Accrued liabilities 333,474 . . . . 333,474 
Due to other funds 102,139 . 699,558 . . 801,697 

Total liabilities 635,131 13,755 701,655 3,695 91,139 1,445,375 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Unavailable inflows of resources 37,751 23,855 407 . 5,684 67,697 

Fund balances: 
Nonspendable • prepaids 60,541 . . . . 60,541 
Restricted-capital projects . 1,059,905 . . . 1,059,905 
Committed to - capital projects - - . 314,011 - 314,011 
Assigned to - capital projects . - - - - -

-waste - . . . 154,456 154,456 
- debt service - - - - 437,964 437,964 

Unassigned 16,460,140 - (521,861) - - 15,938,279 
Total fund balances 16,520,681 1,059,905 (521,861) 314,011 592.420 17,965,156 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 17,193,563 $ 1,097,515 $ 180,201 $ 317,706 $ 689,243 $ 19,478,228 

Total governmental fund balances $ 17,965,156 
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net 

assets are different because: 
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 

resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds, 
net of accumulated depreciation of $19,888,122 16,786,673 

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period 67,697 
expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds. 

Costs of issuance of debt, including discounts and premiums, are expensed currently 
for government funds and are carried as deferred expense in the statement of net position. 171,050 

Deferred outflows from net pension liability 4,706,826 
Deferred outflows from OPEB liability. 1,776,655 
Contributions subsequent to net pension liability measurement date 1,810,233 
Deferred inflows from net pension liability (1,592,456) 
Deferred inflows from OPEB liability (1,281,171) 
Accrual interest payable on long-term debt (105,373) 
Long-term liabilities, including notes payable, are not due and payable 

in current period and therfore are not reported in the funds: (26,691,947) 
Net pension and OPEB liability (312,032) 
Accrued absences payable (4,963,263) 
Bonds and leases payable 

Net position of governmental activities $ 8,338,048 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Capital 
Special Revenue Project 

Public Central Other Total 
Works/ Business Tower Governmental Governmental 

General KDOT District Park Funds Funds 
REVENUES 
Taxes $ 6,143,017 $ 99,371 $ - $ . $ - $ 6,242,388 
Licenses and permits 6,272,826 - - - - 6,272,826 
Intergovernmental 299,905 275,291 - - 1,084,612 1,659,808 
Charges for services 656,730 - - - - 656,730 
Uses of property 169,262 - - - . 169,262 
Fines and forfeitures 67,097 - - - - 67,097 
Interest and rentals 124,198 1,882 63 - 2,936 129,079 
Special assessments - 29,024 710 - - 29,734 
Miscellaneous 158,558 258,472 38,380 1,634 - 457,044 

Total revenues 13,891,593 664,040 39,153 1,634 1,087,548 15,683,968 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General government 1,347,910 . - - - 1,347,910 
Police 3,710,394 - - - . 3,710,394 
Fire 3,151,810 - - - - 3,151,810 
General services and property mgt. 2,418,828 675,462 132,424 11,591 1,083,286 4,321,591 
Recreation 712,017 - - - - 712,017 

Capital outlay 220,728 522,545 - 436,482 1,179,755 
Debt service: 

Principal - - - - 297,055 297,055 
Interest 423 - - - 269,574 269,997 

Total expenditures 11,562,110 1,198,007 132,424 448,073 1,649,915 14,990,529 
Excess(deficiency) of revenues 

over(under) expenditures 2,329,483 (533,967) (93,271) (446,439) (562,367) 693,439 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES) 
Transfers in - . 575,000 200,000 561,478 1,336,478 
Transfers out (879,290) . (457,188) - - (1,336,478) 

Total other financing 
sources and uses (879,290) . 117,812 200,000 561,478 -

Net change in fund balances 1,450,193 (533,967) 24,541 (246,439) (889) 693,439 

Fund balances - beginning $ 15,070,488 $ 1,593,872 $ (546,402) $ 560,450 $ 593,309 $ 17,271,717 

Fund balances - ending $ 16,520,681 $ 1,059,905 $ (521,861) $ 314,011 $ 592,420 $ 17,965,156 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Net change in fund balances-total governmental funds $ 693,437 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
activities are different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. 
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets 
is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense: 

Capital asset purchases capitalized 1,179,755 
Depreciation expense {1,212,003) 

The effect of disposition of capital assets is a decrease to net assets -

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current 
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

Government funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
discounts and similar items when the debt is first issued, whereas these 
amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities. (12,516) 

Accrued interest on long-term debt is reported in the government wide 
financial statements and not in governmental funds. 2,989 

Repayment of debt is an expenditure in the governmental funds, 
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement 
net assets. This is the amount of debt principal payments. 297,055 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require 
the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported 11,321 
as expenditures in governmental funds. (2,384) 

Change in contributions subsequent to the net pension liability 
measurement date. 297,076 

Government funds report the effect of net pension liability reported 
as deferred inflows and as deferred outflows. (2,549,378) 

Government funds report the effect of net pension liability expenses 
based on proportionate share of service cost and calculated pension 
costs from measurement date to measurement date. (740,802) 

Change in net position of governmental activities $ (2,035,450) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION -INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
June 30, 2019 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Due to General Fund 
Accrued expenses 

Total Liabilities 

Net Position 
Held for insurance claims 

Total Net Position 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Self Insured 
Health Insurance 

Fund 

$ 75,833 

75,833 

60,326 

60,326 

15,507 

$ 15,507 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Revenues 
Health insurance revenue 

Expenditures 
Medical claims 

Prescription claims 

Stop loss premiums 

Administrative costs 

Total Expenditures 

Change in Net Position 

Net Position, Beginning of Year 

Net Position, End of Year 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Self Insured 
Health Insurance 

Fund 

$ 672,439 

431,646 

56,028 
144,328 

24,930 
656,932 

15,507 

$ 15,507 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities: 
Medical premiums and other reimbursements 

Claims and other cost paid 

Net change in cash from operating activities 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 

Operating income 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income 
to net cash provided by operating activities: 
increase (decrease) in accured expenses 

Net change in cash from operating activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Self Insured 
Health Insurance 

Fund 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

672.439 
(596,606) 

75,833 

75,833 

15,507 

60,326 

75,833 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUND 
June 30, 2019 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable 

Total liabilities 

NET POSITION 
Held in trust for pension benefits 

Total net position 

Police and 
Firemen's 

Pension Plan 

$ ____ 8_:1,'-35_1_ 

81,351 

81,351 

$ 81,351 -===:-====== 
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Police and 
Firemen's 

Pension Plan 
ADDITIONS 

Investment earnings: 
Interest and dividends $ -

Total investment earnings 
Miscellaneous income -
Transfer from General Fund -

Total additions (reductions) -

DEDUCTIONS 
Benefits paid 28,701 
Administrative expense 850 

Total deductions 29,551 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (29,551) 

NET POSITION-BEGINNING OF YEAR 110,902 

NET POSITION END OF YEAR $ 81,351 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

NOTE A-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The basic financial statements of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, have been prepared in con­
formity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body 
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant ac­
counting policies of the City are described below. 

Financial Reporting Entity 

The City of Ft. Thomas is a municipality governed by a mayor and six-member council. As re­
quired by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the 
government and its component unit entities for which the government is considered to be finan­
cially accountable. 

Blended Component Units 

Blended components units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of gov­
ernment's operations and so data from these units are combined with data of the primary gov­
ernment. Each blended component unit of the City has a June 30 year end. The component 
units discussed below are included in the City's reporting entity because of the significance of 
their operational and/or financial relationship with the City. 

Included within the reporting entity: 

City of Fort Thomas Police and Firemen's Pension Fund 
All public safety employees who retired prior to February 1, 1988 participate in the Police and 
Firemen's Pension Fund. The fund functions for the benefit of the retirees and is governed by a 
five member board of trustees, the mayor, a member of the legislative body, the finance director 
and two public safety retirees. The City is obligated to fund all costs based upon actuarial valu­
ations. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. 
For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
Governmental activities, which are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental reve­
nues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on 
fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which direct expenses of a given func­
tion or segments are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those clearly identifiable 
with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or ap­
plicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a 
given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the op­
erational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the government-wide finan-
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

cial statements, rather than reported as an expenditure. Proceeds of long-term debt are rec­
orded as a liability in the government-wide financial statements, rather than as an other financ­
ing source. Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are 
reported as a reduction of the related liability, rather than as an expenditure. The beginning net 
position has been restated to reflect GASB 67. financial reporting for pension plans. 

Measurement focus, basis of accounting and financial statement presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources meas­
urement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as are the proprietary fund financial state­
ments. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is in­
curred, regardless of the timing of related of the cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as rev­
enue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized 
as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of 
the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they 
are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service ex­
penditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judg­
ments, are recorded only when payment is due. 

The government reports the following funds of the financial reporting entity: 
The general fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial re­
sources of the general government, except for those required to be accounted for in another 
fund. 

The special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources 
that are restricted to expenditures for specific purposes. 

The capital project funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisi­
tion and construction of major capital facilities. 

The debt service fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of 
interest and principal on the general long-term debt of the City. 

The fiduciary fund is used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including oth­
er governments, or on behalf of other funds in the City. These funds are not presented in the 
government-wide financial statements. 

Assets, liabilities and net assets or equity 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents including amounts in demand deposits as well as short-term in­
vestments with an initial maturity date within three months of the date acquired by the City. 

23 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

The City is authorized by state statute to invest in: 

1. Obligations of the United States and of its agencies and instrumentalities; 

2. Certificates of deposit 

3. Bankers' acceptances 

4. Commercial paper. 

5. Bonds of this state or local governments. 

6. Mutual funds. 

Investments 

In accordance with GASB Statement 31 , investments held at June 30, 2019 are recorded at fair 
value based upon quoted market prices. (Level 1) 

Property Tax Receivable 

Property taxes are levied as of July 1 on property values assessed on January 1. The taxes are 
billed on approximately October 1 and are due and payable on October 31. On November 1, 
the bill becomes delinquent and penalties and interest may be assessed by the City. A lien may 
be placed on the property on November 1. Property tax rates for the year ended June 30, 2019 
(2018 tax year) were $.390 per $100 valuation for real estate and $.390 personal property. The 
taxable assessed value of property on which 2018 was based was $1,368,611,533. 

Short-Term lnterfund Receivables/Payables 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for 
goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as "due 
from/to other funds" on the balance sheet. Short-term interfund loans are classified as 
"interfund receivables/payables". 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets are reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide 
statement of net position. 

The accounting and reporting treatment applied to capital assets associated with a fund are de­
termined by its measurement focus. Capital assets are long-lived assets of the City as a whole. 
When purchased, such assets are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds and 
capitalized (recorded and accounted for) in the government-wide financial statements. Infra­
structure such as streets, traffic signals and signs are capitalized. The valuation basis for capi­
tal assets are historical costs, or where historical cost is not available, estimated historical cost 
based on replacement cost. Prior to July 1, 2000, governmental funds infrastructure assets 
were not capitalized. These assets (back to July 1, 1980) have been valued at estimated his­
torical cost. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

Capital assets used in operations are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-tine method in the government-wide financial statements. Depreciation is charged as 
an expense against operations and accumulated depreciation is reported on the respective bal­
ance sheet. The range of lives used for depreciation purposes for each fixed asset class are as 
follows: 

Buildings 
Building Improvements 
Public Domain lnfrastruture 
Vehicles 
Office Equipment 

Compensated Absences 

40 years 
10-20 years 
20-30 years 

5 years 
3-5 years 

It is the government's policy to permit employees lo accumulate earned but unused sick pay 
benefits. There is a liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave since the government does 
have a policy to pay amounts when employees separate from service with the government. 
There is also a liability for vacation pay that has been approved for carryover by the City's Ad­
ministrative Officer. The total liability for these types of compensated absences is reported in 
the government-wide financial statements. 

Long-Term Obligations 

The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the assets are used in gov­
ernmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are reported in the 
government-wide or fund financial statements. 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the ap­
plicable governmental activities, business-type activities or proprietary fund type statement of 
net position. Bond premiums and discounts. as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amor­
tized over the life of the bonds. 

Long-term debt for governmental funds is not reported as liabilities in the fund financial state­
ments. The debt proceeds are reported as revenue and payment of principal and interest re­
ported as expenditures. The accounting for the proprietary fund is the same in the fund state­
ments as it is in the government-wide statements. 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report as a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element repre­
sents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized 
as an outflow of resources (expense/Expenditure) until then. The government only has one 
item that qualifies for reporting in the government-wide statement of net position, a deferred 
charge on debt. This amount is deferred and amortized over the life of the debt. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate sec­
tion for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The government only has one type of item, which 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting that qualifies for reporting in this cate­
gory. Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds 
balance sheet. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the 
period that the amounts become available. 

Fund Balance Policies 

Net assets is the difference between assets and liabilities. Net assets invested in capital as­
sets, net of related debt are capital assets, less accumulated depreciation and any outstanding 
debt related to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. 

In the fund financial statements, government funds report components of fund balance for 
amounts that are nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned: 

Nonspendable fund balances arise when resources cannot be spent because of their form and 
because resources must be maintained intact. 

Restricted fund balances arise when constraints placed on the use of resources are either ex­
ternally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), granters, contributors, or laws 
or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or ena­
bling legislation. 

Committed fund balances are those that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by formal action of the government's highest level of decision-making au­
thority, which, for the City is the Council, The Council must approve the establishment (and 
modification or rescinding) of a fund balance commitment. 

Assigned fund balances are those that are constrained by the government's intent to be used 
for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. 

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. The classification 
represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been re­
stricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

Restricted, committed and assigned amounts can only be used when expenditures for the 
amounts set aside for that specific purpose are incurred. Otherwise, the unassigned fund bal­
ance amount will be used. 

Expenditures/Expenses 

In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for both gov­
ernmental and business-type activities. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are classified as follows: 

Governmental funds - by character Current-further classified by function 
Debt service 
Capital outlay 

In the fund financial statements governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

lnterfund Transactions 

lnterfund transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses. Transactions 
that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenditures/expenses initially made from it that 
are properly applicable to another fund, are recorded as expenditures/expenses in the reim­
bursing fund and as reductions of expenditures/ expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. 

Restricted Revenues 

When there are restricted and unrestricted revenues in a program, the City's policy is that the 
restricted revenues are expended first. 

Use of Estimates 

Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements. These esti­
mates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenditures. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

Date of Management's Review 

Subsequent events were evaluated through January 29, 2020, which is the date the financial 
statements were available for review. 

NOTE B-STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 

A. In accordance with City ordinance, by May 31, the Mayor submits to the Council, a pro­
posed operating budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting for the fiscal year 
commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures 
and the means of financing them for the upcoming year. 

B. A public meeting is conducted to obtain citizen comment. 

C. By July 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 

D. The Mayor is required by Kentucky Revised Statutes to present a quarterly report to the 
Council explaining any variance from the approved budget. 

E. Appropriations continue in effect until a new budget is adopted. 

F. The Council may authorize supplemental appropriations during the year. 

Expenditures may not legally exceed budgeted appropriations at the function level. Any revi­
sions to the budget that would alter total revenues and expenditures of any fund must be ap­
proved by the Council; however, with proper approval by the Council, budgetary transfers be­
tween departments can be made. The Council adopted one supplementary appropriation ordi­
nances. All appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

NOTE C-DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

Custodial credit risk - deposits. For deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, 
the City's deposits may not be returned. The City maintains deposits with financial institutions 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). As allowed by law, the deposito­
ry bank should pledge securities along with FDIC insurance at least equal to the amount on de­
posit at all times. As of June 30, 2019, the City's deposits are entirely insured and/or collateral­
ized with securities held by the financial institutions on the District's behalf and the FDIC insur­
ance, as required by state legal requirements. 

As of June 30, 2019, the City had the following investments: Certificates of Deposit, fair value 
$2,243,664, with a maturity from 07/12/19 to 3/29/21. Interest rate risk is limited and credit risk 
is within the City's investment policy. For investments, custodial risk is the risk that in the event 
of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of the invest­
ments that are in the possession of an outside party. The City has custodial risk at June 30, 
2019 in the amount of $2,243,664 for its certificates of deposit. All cash and investments are 
Level 1, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 

NOTED-CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows: 

Balance Balance 
June 30, Retirements/ June 30, 

2018 Additions Deletions 2019 
Governmental activities: 
Not being depreciated: 
Land $ 1,035,535 $ $ $ 1,035,535 
Construction in progress 452,287 165,613 ~217,935~ 399,965 

Subtotal \4871822 1651613 !2171935l 114351500 
Other capital assets: 
Buildings 3,193,939 456,927 3,650,866 
Improvements/infrastructure 24,782,433 621,040 25,403,473 
Equipment 2,967,031 83,981 (24,351) 3,026,661 
Vehides 3,191,808 70,129 po3,642~ 3,158,295 

Subtotal 3411351211 112321077 p211993l 3512391295 
Accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings 1,920,580 104,468 2,025,048 
Improvements/infrastructure 12,072,809 819,768 12,892,577 
Equipment 2,416,562 99,815 (24,351) 2,492,026 
Vehides 2,394,161 187,952 ~103,642~ 2,478,471 

Subtotal 18,804,112 1,212,003 {121,993l 19,8881122 
Net other assets 15,331,099 20,074 15,351,173 

Net capital assets $ 16,818,921 $ 185,687 $ !217,935) $ 16,786,673 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

Depreciation was charged to functions as follows: 

Governmental activities: 

General government 
Po!ice 
Fire 
General services 
Recreation 

Total governmental activities depreciation expense 

NOTE E-LONG-TERM DEBT 

Capital Lease Obligations 

$ 89,975 
68,892 
91,645 

923,570 
37,921 

$ 1,212,003 

The capital lease obligations are payable from general revenues of the City. 

Long-term debt outstanding at June 30, 2019 for the capital leases consisted of the following: 

Capital Lease Payable-Real Estate 

The City entered into a capital lease agreement on June 29, 2001 with BB&T Bank to finance 
the purchase of certain real estate. The lease payable is for a period of twenty years at a rate 
of 3.50%. Annual debt service payment requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June30 Amount 

2020 15,175 
2021 15,175 

Thereafter 

Subtotal 30,350 
Less: interest 12.oa1l 

TOTAL $ 28,263 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

Capital Lease Payable - Midway Streetscape 

The City entered into a $2,290,000 capital lease agreement on August 25, 201 0 with the Ken­
tucky Bond Corporation to finance the Midway Streetscape project. The lease payable is for a 
period of twenty years with interest rates from 1.00% to 4.00%. 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount 

2020 160,288 
2021 156,225 
2022 157,163 
2023 152,612 
2024 152,900 

2025 -2029 298,338 
2030 36,938 

Subtotal 1,114,464 
Less: interest (169,464) 

Total $ 945,000 

Capital Lease Payable - Parks 

The City entered into a $4,260,000 capital lease agreement on April 14, 2011 with the Kentucky 
Bond Corporation to finance the Parks rehabilitation project. The lease payable is for a period 
of twenty-five years with interest rates from 3.00% to 5. 75%. 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30 Amount 

2020 288,925 
2021 290,925 
2022 292,725 
2023 294,219 
2024 295,281 

2025-2029 1,943,425 
2030-2034 2,222,462 
2035-2036 907,737 

Subtotal 6,535,699 
Less: interest (2,545,699) 

Total $ 3,990,000 
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Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2019, was as follows: 
Due 

June 30, June 30, Within 
2018 Additions Retirements 2019 O,eYear 

Governmental activities: 
Lease payable-real estate $ 40,715 $ $ 12,452 $ 28,263 $ 12,636 
Lease payable - renovations 94,603 94,603 
Lease payable - Midway 1,065,000 120,000 945,000 125,000 
Lease payable - Parks 4,060,000 70,000 3,990,000 75,000 
Net pension liability -single employer 113,762 19,753 94,009 
Net pension liability -

multi employer plan 25,837,383 760,555 26,597,938 
Compensated absences 309,648 2,384 312,032 

Totals $ 31,521 ,111 $ 762,939 $ 316,808 $ 31,967,242 $ 212,636 

NOTE F-CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS 

Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by 
grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims including amounts 
already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amounts, if any, of ex­
penditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although 
the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

NOTE G-EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

County Employees Retirement System (GERS) 

City employees who work at least 100 hours per month participate in the County Employees 
Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute 61.645, the 
Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems (KRS) administers the CERS. 

The plan issues separate financial statements, which may be obtained by request from Ken­
tucky Retirement Systems, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40601. 

General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Description - CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in non-hazardous and hazardous 
positions of each county, City, and school board, and any additional eligible local agencies 
electing to participate in CERS. The plan provides for retirement, disability, and death benefits 
to plan members. Retirement benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under 
certain circumstances. Prior to July 1, 2009, cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments were provided 
annually equal to the percentage increase in the annual average of the consumer price index 
for all urban consumers for the most recent calendar year, not to exceed 5%. 

Effective July 1, 2009, and on July 1 of each year thereafter, the COLA is limited to 1.5% pro­
vided the recipient has been receiving a benefit for at least 12 months prior to the effective date 
of the COLA. If the recipient has been receiving a benefit for less than 12 months prior to the 
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effective date of the COLA, the increase shall be reduced on a pro-rata basis for each month 
the recipient has not been receiving benefits in the 12 months preceding the effective date of 
the COLA. The Kentucky General Assembly reserves the right to suspend or reduce the cost­
of-living adjustments if, in its judgment. the welfare of the Commonwealth so demands. No CO­
LA has been granted since July 1, 2011. 

Non-hazardous Benefits - For members who began contributing to GERS prior to September 1, 
2008, final compensation represents the average fiscal year of earnings with the highest month­
ly average used when calculating your retirement benefit. Final compensation is based on the 
5-high creditable compensation years with a minimum of 48 months and a minimum of five fis­
cal years. Final compensation is determined by dividing the total salary earned during the 5-
high years by the number of months worked, then multiplying by twelve. Non-hazardous mem­
bers, age 65 or older, or with 27 or more years of service are eligible to retire and receive unre­
duced benefits. Any non-hazardous member, age 55, with a minimum of five years of service 
may retire with a reduction in benefits. 

For non-hazardous members who began contributing to CERS on or after September 1, 2008, 
any member age 57 or older, may retire with no reduction in benefits if the member's age and 
years of service equal 87. In addition, a member, age 65, with at least 60 months of service 
may retire with no reduction in benefits. A member, age 60 or older, with at least 120 months of 
service credit may retire at any time with a reduction of benefits. 

Hazardous Benefits - For members who began contributing to CERS prior to September 1, 
2008, final compensation represents the average fiscal year of earnings with the highest month­
ly average used when calculating your retirement benefit. Final compensation is based on the 
3-high creditable compensation years with a minimum of 24 months and a minimum of three 
fiscal years. Final compensation is determined by dividing the total salary earned during the 3-
high years by the number of months worked, then multiplying by twelve. Hazardous members, 
age 55 or older, or with 20 or more years of service are eligible to retire and receive unreduced 
benefits. Any non-hazardous member, age 55, with a minimum of five years of service may 
retire with a reduction in benefits. 

For hazardous members who began contributing to CERS on or after September 1, 2008, any 
member age 60 or older with 60 months or service or a member with 25 years of service, may 
retire with no reduction in benefits. In addition, a member, age 60 with at least 60 months of 
service may retire with no reduction in benefits. A member, age 60 or older, with at least 120 
months of service credit may retire at any time with a reduction of benefits. 

Non-hazardous Contributions - For the year ended June 30, 2019, all plan members who began 
participating before September 1, 2008, were required to contribute 5% of their annual credita­
ble compensation. Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially deter­
mined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute Section 61 .565(3), normal contribution and past ser­
vice contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last 
preceding the July 1 of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as of the first 
day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent 
actuarial valuation that amended contribution rates are necessary to satisfy requirements de­
termined in accordance with actuarial bases adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 
30, 2019, participating employers contributed 21.48% of each employee's creditable compensa­
tion. The actuarially determined rate set by the Board for the year ended June 30, 2019 was 
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21.48% of creditable compensation. Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are 
financed through employer contributions and investment earnings. 

In accordance with House Bill 1, signed by the Governor on June 27, 2008, plan members who 
began participating on, or after, September 1, 2008, were required to contribute a total of 6% of 
their annual creditable compensation. Five percent of the contribution was deposited to the 
member's account while 1 % was deposited to an account created for the payment of health in­
surance benefits under 26 USC Section 401(h) in the Pension Fund (see Kentucky Administra­
tive regulation 102 KAR 1 :420E). Interest is paid each June 30 on members' accounts at a rate 
of 2.5%. If a member terminates employment and applies to take a refund, the member is enti­
tled to a full refund of contributions and interest; however, the 1% contribution to the 401(h) ac­
count is non-refundable and is forfeited. For plan members who began participating prior to 
September 1, 2008, their contributions remain at 5% of their annual creditable compensation. 

In accordance with Senate Bill 2 signed by the Governor on April 4, 2013, plan members who 
began participating on, or after, January 1, 2014, were required to participate to the Cash Bal­
ance Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of 
both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. Members in the plan contribute a 
set percentage of their salary each month to their own account. Non-hazardous members con­
tribute 5% of their annual creditable compensation and 1 % to the health insurance fund which is 
not credited to the member's account and is not refundable. The employer contribution rate is 
set annually by the Board based on an actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set per­
centage of the member's salary. Each month, when employer contributions are received, an 
employer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. A member's account is credited with 
a 4% employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contri­
bution. 

Contributions to the non-hazardous pension plan from the City were $295,351 for the year end­
ed June 30, 2019. 

Hazardous Contributions - For the year ended June 30, 2019, all plan members who began 
participating before September 1, 2008, were required to contribute 8% of their annual credita­
ble compensation. The state was required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per 
Kentucky Revised Statue Section 61.565(3), normal contribution and past service contribution 
rates shall be determined by the Board on the basis of an annual valuation last preceding the 
July 1 of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of 
the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valua­
tion that amended contribution rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in ac­
cordance with actuarial bases adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 30, 2019, partic­
ipating employers contributed 35.34% of each employee's creditable compensation. The actu­
arially determined rate set by the Board for the year ended June 30, 2019 was 35.34% of cred­
itable compensation. Administrative costs of KRS are financed through employer contributions 
and investment earnings. 

In accordance with House Bill 1, signed by the Governor on June 27, 2008, plan members who 
began participating on, or after, September 1, 2008, were required to contribute a total of 9% of 
their annual creditable compensation. Eight percent of the contribution was deposited to the 
member's account while 1 % was deposited to an account created for the payment of health in­
surance benefits under 26 USC Section 401 (h) in the Pension Fund (see Kentucky Administra­
tive regulation 102 KAR 1 :420E). Interest is paid each June 30 on members' accounts at a rate 
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of 2.5%. If a member terminates employment and applies to take a refund, the member is enti­
tled to a full refund of contributions and interest; however, the 1 % contribution to the 401 (h) ac­
count is non-refundable and is forfeited. For plan members who began participating prior to 
September 1, 2008, their contributions remain at 8% of their annual creditable compensation. 

In accordance with Senate Bill 2 signed by the Governor on April 4, 2013, plan members who 
began participating on, or after, January 1, 2014, were required to participate to the Cash Bal­
ance Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of 
both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. Members in the plan contribute a 
set percentage of their salary each month to their own account. Hazardous members contribute 
8% of their annual creditable compensation and 1 % to the health insurance fund which is not 
credited to the member's account and is not refundable. The employer contribution rate is set 
annually by the Board based on an actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set percent­
age of the member's salary. Each month, when employer contributions are received, an em­
ployer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. A member's account is credited with a 
7.5% employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contri­
bution. 

Contributions to the hazardous pension plan from the City were $998,441 for the year ended 
June 30, 2019. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 
of Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2019, the City reported a liability of $4,112,844 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for non-hazardous and $16,439,485 for hazardous. The City's net pension liabil­
ity was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion 
of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contribu­
tions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, actu­
arially determined. At June 30, 2018, the City's proportion was 0.07 percent for non-hazardous 
and 0.68 percent for hazardous. 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $371,804 for non­
hazardous and expense of $2,171,346 for hazardous. At June 30, 2019, the City reported de­
ferred outflows or resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the fol­
lowing sources: 
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GENERAL 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 

of Resources of Resources 
Difference between expected and 

actual experience $ 1,442,455 $ 60,203 
Change in assumptions 2,151,871 

Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on pension 

plan investments 800,584 1,035,330 
Changes in proportion and difference 

between City contributions and 

proportionate share 

of contributions 311,916 496,923 
City contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 1,293,792 

Total $ 6,000,618 $ 1,592,456 

The $1,293,792 reported as deferred outflows of resources relating to pensions resulting from 
the City's contributions made after the measurement date of the net pension liability but before 
the end of the City's reporting period will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liabil­
ity in the subsequent fiscal period rather than in the current fiscal period. Other amounts report­
ed as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will 
be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended General General 
June 30 Hazardous Non-Hazardous 

2019 $ 1,912,898 $ 323,939 
2020 946,820 128,564 
2021 (39,061) (62,481) 
2022 (74,236} (22,075) 
2023 

Totals $ 2,746,421 $ 367,947 
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Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 

Inflation 
Salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

2.30 percent 
2.0 percent, average, including inflation 
6.25 percent, net of pension plan investment 
expense, including inflation 

The Mortality Table for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality table projected with 
Scale BB to 2013 multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females. The rates of mortality 
healthy retired members and their beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Com­
bined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for 
females and setback one year for females. For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined 
mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 setback four years for males is used for the pe­
riod after disability retirement. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on results of an ac­
tuarial experience study as of June 30, 2015. 

The long-term expected return on system assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience 
studies prepared every five years. The most recent analysis, performed for the period covering 
fiscal years 2008 through 2013, is outlined in a report submitted April 30, 2014. Several factors 
are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption including long-term histor­
ical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in 
which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return and net of 
investment expense) were developed by the investment consultant for each major asset class. 
These ranges were combined to produce long-term expected rate of return by weighing the ex­
pected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding ex­
pected inflation. The capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are 
intended for use over a 10-year horizon and may not be useful in setting the long-term rate of 
return for funding pension plans which cover a longer timeframe. The assumption is intended to 
be a long-term assumption and is not expected to change absent a significant change in the 
asset allocation, or a fundamental change in the market that alters expected returns in future 
years. The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset class 
are summarized in the following table: 
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CERS Non-Hazardous CERS Hazardous 

Long-Term Long-Term 

Target Expected Target Expected 

Asset Class Allocation Nominal Return Allocation Nominal Return 

Combined equity 35% 5.40% 35% 5 .40% 

Combined fixed Income 28% 1.50% 28% 1.50% 

Real return ( Diversified Inflation 

Strategies) 10% 3.50% 10% 3.50% 

Real estate 5% 4.50% 5% 4.50% 

Absolute return (Diversified 

Hedge funds) 10% 4.25% 10% 4 .25% 

Private equity 10% 8.50% 10% 8.50% 

Cash equivalent 2% -0.25% 2% -0.25% 

Total 100% 100% 

Discount Rate - The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate. Projected 
future benefit payments for all current plan members were projected though 2117. 

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that local employers 
would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected compensation over the 
remaining 27 year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The actuarial 
determined contribution rate is adjusted to reflect the phase in of anticipated gains on actuarial 
value of assets over the first four years of the projection period. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The discount rate used 
to measure the total pension liability for the system was 6.25% for both, nonhazardous and 
hazardous. The following presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 
percent, as well as what the systems' net position liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.25%) or one percentage point higher 
(7.25%) than the current rate for non-hazardous and (5.25%) or one percentage point higher 
(7.25%) than the current rate for hazardous($ thousands): 

CERS 
Non-hazardous $ 
Ft. Thomas percent 0.068 

Hazardous $ 
Ft. Thomas percent 0.680 

1% Decrease 
5.25% 
5,177,644 $ 

20,597,599 $ 

Current 
Discount Rate 

6.25% 
4,112,844 $ 

16,439,485 $ 

1% Increase 
7.25% 

3,220,727 

13,002,026 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the plan's fiduciary net posi­
tion is available in the separately issued CERS financial report. 
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NOTE H-POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB) 

Insurance Benefits County Employees Retirement System (GERS) 

City employees who work at least 100 hours per month participate in the County Employees 
Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute 61. 701, the 
Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems (KRS) administers the insurance fund for 
members participating in CERS. 

The plan issues separate financial statements, which may be obtained by request from Ken­
tucky Retirement Systems, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40601. 

General Information about the Insurance Fund 

Plan Description - The Kentucky Retirement Insurance Fund (Insurance Fund) was established 
to provide hospital and medical insurance for members receiving benefits from KERS, CERS 
and SPRS. The eligible non-Medicare retirees are covered by the Department of Employee In­
surance (DEi) plans. KRS submits the premium payments to DEi. The Board contracts with 
Humana to provide health care benefits to eligible retirees through a Medicare Advantage Plan. 
The Insurance Fund pays a prescribed contribution for the whole or partial payment of required 
premiums to purchase hospital and medical insurance. The Fund pays the same proportion of 
hospital and medical insurance premiums for the spouse and dependents of retired hazardous 
members killed in the line of duty. 

Insurance Benefits - For members participating prior to July 1, 2003, the amount of contribution 
paid for hospital and medical insurance is based on the years of service and respective per­
centages of the maximum contribution as follows: 

Years of Service 
20 or More 

15-19 
10-14 
4-9 

Less than 4 

% Paid by Insurance Fund 
100% 
75% 
50% 
25% 
0% 

As a result of House Bill 290 (2004 Kentucky General Assembly), medical insurance benefits 
are calculated differently for members who began participating on, or after, July 1. 2003. Once 
members reach a minimum vesting period of ten years, non-hazardous employees whose par­
ticipation began on, or after, July 1, 2003 earn $1 O per month for insurance benefits at retire­
ment for every year of earned service without regard to a maximum dollar amount. Hazardous 
employees whose participation began on, or after, July 1, 2003 earn $15 per month for insur­
ance benefits at retirement for every year of earned service without regard to a maximum dollar 
amount. Upon death of a hazardous employee, the employee's spouse receives $10 per month 
for insurance benefits for each year of the deceased employee's earned hazardous service. 
This dollar amount is subject to adjustment annually.which is currently 1.5% based upon Ken­
tucky Revised Statutes. Dollar contributions for fiscal year 2018 was $13.38 for non-hazardous 
and $20.07 for hazardous. This benefit is not protected under the invoilable contract provisions 
of the Kentucky Revised Statute 16.652, 61 .692 and 78.852. The Kentucky General Assembly 
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reserves the right to suspend of reduce this benefit if, in its judgment, the welfare of the Com­
monwealth so demands. 

Insurance Contributions - Future contributtons are projected in accordance with the Board's 
current funding policy, which includes the requirement that each participating employer in the 
system contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate, which is determined using a 
closed funding period (25 years as of June 30, 2018) and the actuarial assumptions and meth­
ods adopted by the Board. Current assets, future contributions and investment earnings are 
projected to be sufficient to pay the projected benefit payment from the retirement system. 
However, the cost associated with the implicit employer substdy is not currently being included 
in the calculation of the system's actuarial determined contributions. It is the understanding that 
cost associated with the implictt subsidy wm not be paid out of the system's trust. Therefore, the 
municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments associated with the implic­
it subsidy. 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEB 

At June 30, 2019, the City reported a liability of $1,198,982 for its proportionate share of the net 
OPEB liability for non-hazardous and $4,846,627 for hazardous. The City's net OPEB liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net OPEB 
liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the OPEB 
plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At 
June 30, 2018, the City's proportion was 0.067 percent for non-hazardous and 0.680 percent 
for hazardous. 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized OPES expense of $35,698 for non­
hazardous and $447,830 expense for hazardous. At June 30, 2019, the City reported deferred 
outflows or resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following 
sources: 
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GENERAL 

Def erred Outflows Deferred Inflows 

Difference between expected and 
actual experience $ 

Change in assumptions 
Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on OPEB 
plan investments 

Changes in proportion and difference 
between City contributions and 
proportionate share 
of contributions 

City contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

Total $ 

of Resources 

1,726,750 $ 

49,905 

516,441 

of Resources 

681 ,351 
16,027 

543,344 

40,449 

2,293,096 $ 1,281,171 
===== 

The $516,441 is reported as deferred outflows of resources relating to OPEB resulting from the 
City's contributions made after the measurement date of the net OPEB liability but before the 
end of the City's reporting period will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in 
the subsequent fiscal period rather than in the current fiscal period. Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be rec­
ognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

Year Ended 
June 30 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 

Thereafter 

Hazardous Non-Hazardous 
$ 304.715 $ (3,336) 

304,715 (3,336) 
37,206 (3,336) 

(125,860) 12,704 
(18,002) 

Totals $·---s=20,....,,,1=1s,....$ 
(9,989) 

(25,295) 

Actuarial Assumptions - The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 

Inflation 
Payroll growth 
Investment rate of return 
Health cost trend rates Pre-65 

Health cost trend rates Post-65 

2.30 percent 
2.0 percent, average 
6.25 percent 
7.0% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.05% over a 
period of twelve years 
5.0% for 2018, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.05% over a 
period of ten years 
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The Mortality Table for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality table projected with 
Scale BB to 2013 multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females. The rates of mortality 
healthy retired members and their beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Com­
bined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for 
females and setback one year for females. For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined 
mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 setback four years for males is used for the pe­
riod after disability retirement. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on results of an ac­
tuarial experience study as of June 30, 2015. 

In January 2017, the Investment Committee chair appointed a special subcommittee to review 
asset allocation for each individual system to determine the level of risk based on liquidity and 
cash flow need. The subcommittee worked for six months with the Systems' consultants and 
actuaries and in July, 2017, the Board approved new asset allocations. The new assets alloca­
tion, at its highest level, allocates 45.0% of system assets to equity risk, 30.0% to credit risk 
and 25.0% to diversifying strategies (real return, real estate, private equity and absolute return). 
These new allocations should reduce the public equity exposure by roughly 16.0% in favor of 
fixed income. The committee also reviewed the capital market assumptions from eight leading 
investment and/or consulting firms, e.g., JP Morgan, PIMCO, RVK, Goldman Sachs, and 
Blackrock. The assumptions from these firms were compared to asset allocations where the 
resulting portfolio returns were averaged to produce an estimated return for each system. As a 
result, the Committee recommended lowering the assumed rate of return from 7.5% to 6.25%. 
This was approved by the Board in July, 2017. The Board recognizes its fiduciary duty to not 
only invest funds in compliance with the prudent Person Rule bit to also manage the funds while 
recognizing the long-term nature of the investments. The target allocations and best estimate of 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
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Target 

Asset Class Allocation 

US Equity* 17.5% 

International Equity* 17.5% 

Global Bonds 4 .0% 

Global Credit 2.0% 

High Yield 7.0% 

Emerging Market Debt 5.0% 

Private Credit 10.0% 

Real Estate* 5.0% 

Absolute Return 10.0% 

Real Return* 10.0% 

Private equity 10.0% 

Cash equivalent 2.0% 

Total 100% 

Expected 

Nominal Return 

4.83% 

6.75% 

3.00% 

3.75% 

5.50% 

6.0% 

8.50% 

9.00% 

5.00% 

7.00% 

6.25% 

1.50% 

6.09% 

*Long-term expected real rates of return may vary depending on risk tolerance. 

Discount Rate - The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
local employers would contribute the actuarially determined contribution rate of projected com­
pensation over the remaining 26 year ( closed) amortization period of the unfunded actuarial ac­
crued liability. The discount rate determination used an expected rate of return of 6.25% and a 
municipal bond rate of 3.56%, as reported in Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO AA Index" 
as of June 30, 2017. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy was not 
included in the calculation of the System's actuarial determined contributions, and any cost as­
sociated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the System's trusts. Therefore, the mu­
nicipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments associated with the implicit 
subsidy. 

Sensitivity of the Net OPES Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The discount rates of 
5.85% for non-hazardous and 5.97% for hazardous were used to measure the total OPEB liabil­
ity for the system as of June 30, 2018. The following presents the net OPEB liability calculated 
using the discount rate of percent, as well as what the systems' net position liability would be if 
it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (4.85%) or one per­
centage point higher (6.85%) than the current rate for non-hazardous and one percentage point 
lower (4.97%) or one percentage point higher (6.97%) than the current rate for hazardous: 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

GERS 1% Decrease 

$ 1,557,285 

Current 

5.85% Non-hazardous 

5.97% Hazardous 

$ 1,198,982 $ 

1% Increase 

Proportionate Share 

Non-hazardous 

Proportionate Share 

Hazardous 

$ 6,737,050 $ 4,846,627 $ 

893,773 

3,333,924 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Trend Rates - For both the 
non-hazardous and hazardous plans the initial trend rate for Pre-65 starts at 7.50% and is ex­
pected to gradually decrease to an ultimate trend rate of 5.00% over a period of 5 years. For 
both the non-hazardous and hazardous plans the initial trend rate for Post-65 starts at 5.50% 
and is expected to gradually decrease to an ultimate trend rate of 5.00% over a period of 2 
years. 

Healthcare 

GERS 1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase 

Proportionate Share $ 892,654 $ 1,198,982 $ 1,560,054 

Non-hazardous 

Proportionate Share $ 3,300,787 $ 4,846,627 $ 6,761 ,214 

Hazardous 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the plan's fiduciary net position 
is available in the separately issued KRS financial report. 

NOTE I-CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The City is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not pres­
ently determinable, in the opinion of the City's Attorney the resolution of these matters will not 
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the government. 

NOTE J-RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of tosses related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruc­
tion of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees, and natural disasters. The City has 
obtained insurance coverage through a commercial insurance company. In addition, the City 
has effectively managed risk through various employee education and prevention programs 
through the efforts and cooperation of its risk manager and department heads. All risk general 
liability management activities are accounted for in the General Fund. Expenditures and claims 
are recognized when probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of loss can be reason­
ably estimated. 

The City Attorney estimates that the amount of actual or potential claims against the City as of 
June 30, 2019, will not materially affect the financial condition of the City. Therefore, the Gen­
eral Fund contains no provision for estimated claims. No claim has exceeded insurance cover­
age amounts in the past three fiscal years. 
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June 30, 2019 

NOTE K - INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 

The General Fund records a $670,000 receivable from the Central Business District Fund for 
funds advanced for construction projects. It records $281,697 due to the Public Works/KDOT 
and Central Business District funds for past costs incurred by those funds for the General Fund. 

The General Fund ($104,290) and Central Business District Fund ($457,188) transferred 
$561,478 to the Debt Service Fund for payment of the City's debt. The General Fund trans­
ferred $575,000 to the Central Business Dtstrict Fund representing a .25 percent tax collected 
by the General Fund on behalf of the CBD. The Generat Fund transferred $200,000 to the 
Tower Park Fund for capital improvements. 

NOTE L - COMMITMENTS 

At June 30, 2019, the City had committed $24,472 in construction costs for the 2018 Street 
Program, and $85,204 for the Ft. Thomas Armory project. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE-BUDGET AND ACTUAL-GENERAL FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Required Supplementary Information Variance with 
Budgeted Amounts Actual Final Budget 

Original ~inal Amounts Positive/( Negative) 

Budgetary fund balance, July 1 $ 13,156,186 $ 13,156,186 $ 15,070,488 $ 1,914,302 
Resources (inflows): 

Taxes 5,823,100 5,882,720 6,143,017 260,297 
Licenses and permits 5,198,500 5,433,500 6,272,826 839,326 
Intergovernmental 282,375 281,500 299,905 18,405 
Uses of property 
Fines and forfeitures 57,000 52,000 67,097 15,097 
Charges for services 577,500 594,130 656,730 62,600 
Interest 203,500 258,700 293,460 34,760 
Lease proceeds 
Miscellaneous 75,000 141,750 158,556 16,806 
Transfer in 200,000 200,000 (200,000) 

Amounts available for appropriation 25,573,161 26,C:io0,486 28,962,079 2,961,593 
Charges to appropriations (outflows): 

General government 1,472,990 1,571,665 1,359,005 212,660 
Police 3,729,803 3,740,688 3,774,531 (33,843) 
Fire 3,132,503 3,146,736 3,164,262 (17,526) 
General services and property mgt. 2,378,760 2,603,895 2,550,622 53,273 
Recreation 804,032 820,097 713,267 106,830 
Capital outlay 
Debt service 423 (423) 
Transfers out 800,347 1,000,347 879,290 121,057 

Total charges to appropriations 12,318,435 12,883,428 12,441,400 442,028 

Budgetary fund balance, June 30 $ 13,254,726 $ 13,117,058 $ 16,520,679 $ 3,403,621 

NOTE: Capital outlay expenditures are budgeted in the respective departments. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-

BUDGET AND ACTUAL-PUBLIC WORKSIKDOT FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Required Supplementary Information Variance with 
Final Budget 

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Negative) 

Budgetary fund balances, July 1 $ 1,594,455 $ 1,594,455 $ 1,593,872 $ (583) 
Resources (inflows): 

Taxes 97,000 97,000 99,371 2,371 
Intergovernmental 300,000 557,800 275,291 (282,509) 
Interest 1,000 1,290 1,882 592 
Special assessments 31,000 31,000 29,024 (1,976) 
Miscellaneous 5,000 - 258,472 258,472 
Transfers - 100,000 - (100,000] 

Amounts available for appropriation 2,028,455 2,381,545 2,257,912 (123,633) 
Charges to appropriations (outflows): 

Current: 
General services 25,000 20,000 511,434 (491,434) 

Capital outlay: 
Street and sidewalk projects 640,000 1,161,200 686,573 474,627 

Transfers to other funds - - - . 
Total 665,000 1,181,200 1,198,007 (16,807) 

Budgetary fund balances, June 30 $ 1,363,455 $ 1,200,345 $ 1,059,905 $ (140,440) 

Note: General services consists of costs paid for work reimbursed by public utilities m miscellaneous income 
$(258,472), costs related to the Comprehensive Plan $(103,009) and a one time charge to reconcile w ith 
the General Fund $(150,000). 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-

BUDGET AND ACTUAL-CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Required Supplementary Information Variance with 
Final Budget 

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive 
Original Final Amounts (Neqative) 

Budgetary fund balances, July 1 $ (546,402) $ (546,402) $ (546,402) $ -
Resources (inflows): 

Current services -
Special assessments - 150 710 560 
Interest - 18 63 45 
Miscellaneous 109,500 30,310 38,380 8,070 
Lease Proceeds - - - -
Transfers from other funds 575,000 575,000 575,000 -

Amounts available for appropriation 138,098 59,076 67,751 8,675 
Charges to appropriations (outflows): 

Current: 
General government - - - -
General services and recreation 133,100 133,291 132,424 867 

Capital outlay - - - -
Transfers to other funds 457,189 457,188 457,188 -

Total 590,289 590,479 589,612 867 
Budgetary fund balances, June 30 $ (452,191! $ ~531,403) $ (521 ,861) $ 9,542 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

POLICE AND FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

2019 
Schedule of City Contributions 

Actuarially determined contribution $ 25,399 
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

determined contribution -
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ 25,399 

Covered-employee payroll no active employees 

Actual contributions as a percentage of 
covered-employee payroll no active employees 

Schedule of Changes in the Net Position Liability and Related Ratios 
Total pension liability 
Difference between expected and 

actual experience $ (20,603) 
Benefit payments !25,399! 
Net change in total pension liability (46,002) 
Total pension liability- June 30 2018 224,664 
Total pension liability- June 30 2019 178,662 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Contributions-employer, less plan costs (850) 
Net investment income -
Benefit payments (25,399) 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (26,249) 

Plan fiduciary net position - June 30, 2018 110,902 
Plan fiduciary net position - ending June 30, 2019 84,653 

Net pension liability $ 94,009 

Plan fiduciary net position as percentage 
of the total pension liability 47.4% 

Covered-em p1oyee payroll No active employees 

Net pension liability as a percentage of 
covered-employee payroll No active employees 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
June 30, 2019 

Note 1. Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of July 1st preceding 
the fiscal year end in which contributions are reported. 

Note 2. Benefit Changes: None 

Note 3. Change in Assumptions: In 2019, amounts reported as change in assumptions under the 
Employees' Pension Plan resulted primarily from updating the mortality table. 

Note 4. Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates: 

Actuarial cost method 

Asset valuation method 

Investment rate of return 

Mortality 

Police and 

Firemen's 

Pension Plan 

Unit Credit 

Market Value 

5.0%, compounded annually net 

of investment expenses, 

including inflation 

RP 2019 Mortality Table M/F 

so 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS-PENSION 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

2015 2016 2017 2018 
Non-hazardous: 

Contractually required contribution $ 281,426 $ 265,240 $ 316,994 $ 241,730 $ 

Contributions in relation to the 
contractually required contribution $ 281,426 $ 265,240 $ 316,994 $ 241 ,730 $ 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ $ 

City's covered payroll $ 1,592,675 $ 1,554,748 $ 1,696,971 $ 1,669,303 $ 

Contributions as a percentage 
of covered-employee payroll 17.67% 17.06% 18.68% 14.48% 

Hazardous: 
Contractually required contribution $ 1,139,420 $ 1,127,717 $ 1,132,211 $ 840,566 $ 

Contributions In relation to the 
contractually required contribution $ 1,139,420 $ 1,127,717 $ 1,132,211 $ 840,566 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ 

City's covered payroll $ 3,320,955 $ 3,422,510 $ 3,645,239 $ 3,786,575 

Contributions as a percentage 
of covered-employee payroll 34.31% 32.95% 31.06% 22.20% 

Required supplementary information is intended to show ten years of data. Additional years information 
will be added as it is available. 
Beginning in 2018, reported contributions and covered payroll excludes OPEB. which is reported separately. 
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$ 

$ 

2019 

295,351 

295,351 

1,820,955 

16.22% 

998,441 

998,441 

4,015,413 

24.86% 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY-

NON-HAZARDOUS AND HAZARDOUS 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, 
2015 2016 2017 2018 

Non-hazardous: 
City's proportion of the net 

pension tiability 0.0636% 0,0633% 0.0698% 0.0675% 
City's proportionate share of 

the net pension tiabitity $ 2,733,591 $ 3,480,085 $ 4,087.482 $ 4,112,844 
City's covered-employee payroll $ 1,554,748 $ 1,696,971 $ 1,669,303 $ 1,820,955 
City's proportionate share of 

net pension liabltity as a percentage 175.82% 205.08% 244.80% 225.86% 
of its covered-employee payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total pension 
liabflity 57.5% 55.5% 53.30% 53.54% 

Hazardous: 
City's proportion of the net 

pension liability 0.6015% 0.5992% 0.6640% 0.6798% 
City's proportionate share of 

the net pension liability $ 9,233,553 $ 12,228,122 $ 14,856,559 $ 16,439,485 
City's covered-employee payroll $ 3,422,510 $ 3,645,239 $ 3,786,576 $ 4,015,413 
City's proportionate share of 

net pension liability as a percentage 
of its covered-employee payroll 269.79% 335.45% 392.35% 409.41% 

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total pension 
liability 60.0% 54.0% 49.8% 49.30% 

Required supplementary information is intended to show ten years of data. Additional years 
information will be added as it is available. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF CITY CONTRIBUTIONS - OPES 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

2017 2018 2019 
Non-hazardous: 

Contractually required contribution $ 80,263 $ 78,444 $ 95,790 

Contributions in relation to the 
contractually required contribution 80,263 78,442 95,790 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ -
City' covered payroll $ 1,696,971 $ 1,669,303 $ 1,820,955 

Contributions as a percentage 
of covered-employee payroll 4.73% 4.70% 5.26% 

Hazardous: 
Contractually required contribution $ 340,796 $ 354,099 $ 420,606 

Contributions in relation to the 
contractually required contribution 340,796 354,099 42,606 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ -
City's covered payroll $ 3,645,239 $ 3,786,576 $ 4,015,413 

Contributions as a percentage 9.35% 9.35% 10.47% 
of covered-employee payroll 

Required supplementary information is intended to show ten years of data. Additional years 
information will be shown once it becomes available. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF THE PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET OPES LIABILITY­

NON-HAZARDOUS AND HAZARDOUS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Non-hazardous: 
City's proportion of the net 

OPEB liability 
City's proportionate share of 

the net OPEB liability 
City's covered-employee payroll 
City's proportionate share of 

net OPEB liability as a percentage 
of its covered-employee payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a 

Hazardous: 

percentage of the total OPEB 
liability 

City's proportion of the net 
OPEB liability 

City's proportionate share of 
the net OPEB liability 

City's covered-employee payroll 
City's proportionate share of 

net OPEB liability as a percentage 
of its covered-employee payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a 
percentage of the total OPEB 
liability 

June 30, 
2017 

0.0698% 

$ 1,403,862 $ 
$ 1,669,303 $ 

84.10% 

52.4% 

0.6640% 

$ 5,489,480 $ 
$ 3,786,576 $ 

144.97% 

59.0% 

Required supplementary information is intended to show ten years of data. Additional years 
information will be shown once it becomes available. 
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June 30, 
2018 

0.0675% 

1,198,982 
1,820,955 

65.84% 

57.6% 

0.6798% 

4,846,627 
4,015,413 

120.70% 

64.2% 



CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
June 30, 2019 

Pension 

Valuation dates. Actuarially determined contributions rates are calculated as of July 1 lit 
preceding the fiscal year end in which the contributions are reported. 

Changes in benefit terms. Benefit provisions for active members who die in the line of duty 
were updated with increased spouse or children benefits. 

There have been no changes in actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2018. 

In addition, refer to Note G starting on page 31. 

OPEB 

Valuation dates. Actuarially determined contributions rates are calculated as of July 151 

preceding the fiscal year end in which the contributions are reported. 

Changes in benefit terms. Benefit provisions for active members who die in the line of duty 
were updated with increased spouse or children benefits. 

There have been no changes in actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2018. 

In addition, refer to Note H starting on page 38. 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES-

BUDGET AND ACTUAL-TOWER PARK FUND 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Budgeted Amounts Actual Positive 
Original Final Amounts (NeQative) 

Budgetary fund balances, July 1 $ 560,450 $ 560,450 $ 560,450 $ -
Resources (inflows): 

Current services - - -
Interest - - -
Miscellaneous 5,000 2,500 1,634 (866) 
Transfers in from other funds 200,000 200,000 200,000 -

Amounts available for appropriation 765,450 762,950 762,084 (866) 
Charges to appropriations (outflows): 

General services and recreation 15,000 16,150 11,591 4,559 
Capital outlay 150,000 500,000 436,482 63,518 
Transfers to other funds - - - -

Total 165,000 516,150 448,073 68,077 
Budgetary fund balances, June 30 $ 600,450 $ 246,800 $ 314,011 $ 67,211 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
June 30, 2019 

Special 
Revenue Total 

Nonmajor 
Waste Debt Governmental 

Fee Service Funds 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 242,628 $ 439,105 $ 681,733 
Accounts receivable 7,510 - 7,510 
Total assets $ 250,138 $ 439,105 $ 689,243 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 
Accounts payable $ 89,998 $ 1,141 $ 91,139 
Deferred revenues 5,684 - 5,684 
Due to General Fund - - -

Total liabilities 95,682 1,141 96,823 

Fund balances: 
Assigned to: 

Debt service - 437,964 437,964 
Waste 154,456 - 154,456 

Total fund balances 154,456 437,964 592,420 
Total liabilities and fund balances $ 250,138 $ 439,105 $ 689,243 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
For The Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Special 
Revenue Total 

Nonmajor 
Waste Debt Governmental 

Fee Service Funds 
REVENUES 
Charges for services $ 1,084,612 $ - $ 1,084,612 
Interest - 2,936 2,936 
Miscellaneous income - - -

Total revenues 1,084,612 2,936 1,087,548 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General government - - -General services 1,083,286 - 1,083,286 
Debt service: -

Principal - 297,055 297,055 
Interest - 269,574 269,574 

Total expenditures 
r 

1,083,286 566,629 1,649,915 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over(under) expenditures 1,326 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES) 

(563,693} (562,367) 

Transfers in - 561,478 561,478 
Transfers out - - -

Total other financing sources and uses - 561,478 561,478 
Net change in fund balances 1,326 (2,215} (889) 

Fund balances - beginning 153,130 440,179 593,309 

Fund balances - ending $ 154,456 $ 437,964 $ 592,420 
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RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

■ Lookout Corporate Center 
J 71 7 Dixie Highway, Suite 600 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky 41 o 1 1 

■ Tel. 859/331-5000 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of 
the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated January 29, 2020. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Ft. 
Thomas, Kentucky's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control. Accordingly, we do not ex­
press an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to pre­
vent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficien­
cy, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detect­
ed and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or signifi­
cant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in inter­
nal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses that we consider 
to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an ob­
jective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and responses as Finding 1. 

City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's Response to Findings 

The City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's response to the findings identified in our audit is described 
in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses. City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's re­
sponse was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial state­
ments and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit per­
formed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communicatton is not suitable for any other purpose. 

RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 

~~ / ~ + c~ 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky 
January 29, 2020 
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CITY OF FT. THOMAS, KENTUCKY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 
June 30, 2019 

Finding 1: Expenditures Exceeding Budget 

Under KRS91A.030 the City is required to limit expenditures to those that are 
within the legally adopted budget, which is enacted at the department level. The 
Central Business District fund incurred expenditures in excess of the budget in 
the general services/recreation line item. 

Recommendation: We recommend the City consider the following: 

We recommend that the City be aware of its expenditures as compared to the 
legally adopted budget and amend the budget when necessary to avoid 
exceeding the budget. 

City's Response: 

The City will monitor its expenditures and amend the budget when 
necessary. 
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RANKIN, RANKIN Si COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants 

To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

■ Lookout Corporate Center 
J 7 J 7 Dixie Highway, Suite 600 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky 4 l O I I 

■ Tel. 859/331-5000 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
for the year ended June 30, 2019, we considered the City's internal control structure to 
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control structure. 

However, during our audit, we became aware of matters that are opportunities for strengthening 
internal controls and operating efficiency. This letter summarizes our comments and 
suggestions regarding those matters. This letter does not affect our report dated January 29, 
2020 on the financial statements of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

Comprehensive General Ledger 

In past years, the City has used elements of a general ledger system, primarily for recording 
cash activity during the year. At year end, that system was supplemented with spread sheet 
journal entries to complete the trial balance for the year. While adequate for arriving at the year 
end trial balance, (used for preparing the financial statements), we believe that utilizing the full 
capability of the general ledger system would add to greater efficiency and control over the 
reporting of various entries during and at the year end. In addition, reconciling the monthly trial 
balances to monthly records, such as bank reconciliations would make the year end 
reconciliations easier. 

RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 

t~,/Jo,~~{)~ 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky ~· (/ - G 
January 29, 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Ft. 
Thomas, Kentucky, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material re­
spects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, as of 
June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, 
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis on pages 5-10 and budgetary comparison 
information, schedule of City contributions, and schedule of proportionate share of net 
pension liability-hazardous and non hazardous on pages 45-54 be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements 
that collectively comprise the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's basic financial statements. 
The combining and individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
presented for purposed of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. 

The combining and individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combing and 
individual budget and actual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report 
dated January 29, 2020, on our consideration of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance. 

RANKIN, RANKIN, & COMPANY 

~,/)_~f--c~ 
Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
January 29, 2020 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of 
the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated January 29, 2020. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Ft. 
Thomas, Kentucky's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control. Accordingly, we do not ex­
press an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to pre­
vent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficien­
cy, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detect­
ed and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or signifi­
cant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in inter­
nal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses that we consider 
to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an ob­
jective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and responses as Finding 1. 

City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's Response to Findings 

The City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's response to the findings identified in our audit is described 
in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses. City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky's re­
sponse was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial state­
ments and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit per­
formed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 

/0,~,~+C~ 
Ft. Wright, Kentucky 
January 29, 2020 
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To the Mayor and Council 
City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 
for the year ended June 30, 2019, we considered the City's internal control structure to 
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control structure. 

However, during our audit, we became aware of matters that are opportunities for strengthening 
internal controls and operating efficiency. This letter summarizes our comments and 
suggestions regarding those matters. This letter does not affect our report dated January 29, 
2020 on the financial statements of the City of Ft. Thomas, Kentucky 

Comprehensive General Ledger 

In past years, the City has used elements of a general ledger system, primarily for recording 
cash activity during the year. At year end, that system was supplemented with spread sheet 
journal entries to complete the trial balance for the year. While adequate for arriving at the year 
end trial balance, (used for preparing the financial statements), we believe that utilizing the full 
capability of the general ledger system would add to greater efficiency and control over the 
reporting of various entries during and at the year end. In addition, reconciling the monthly trial 
balances to monthly records, such as bank reconciliations would make the year end 
reconciliations easier. 

RANKIN, RANKIN & COMPANY 

ti.~:!~~ 
January 29, 2020 
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